

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Chromatography B, 817 (2005) 35-47

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

Multidimensional separation of peptides for effective proteomic analysis

Haleem J. Issaq*, King C. Chan, George M. Janini, Thomas P. Conrads, Timothy D. Veenstra

Laboratory of Proteomics and Analytical Technologies, SAIC-Frederick Inc., National Cancer Institute at Frederick, P.O. Box B, Frederick, Maryland, MA 21702, USA

> Received 23 January 2004; accepted 20 July 2004 Available online 11 September 2004

Abstract

Current solution based proteomic analysis methods are generally based on enzymatic digestion of a protein mixture followed by separation using multidimensional liquid chromatography and/or electrophoresis where peptide identification is typically accomplished by tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS). It is generally accepted that no single chromatographic or electrophoretic procedure is capable of resolving the complex mixture of peptides that results from a global proteolytic digest of a proteome. Therefore, combining two or more orthogonal (multimodal) separation procedures dramatically improves the overall resolution and results in a larger number of peptides being identified from complex proteome digests. Separation of a proteome digest is a particularly challenging analytical problem due to the large number of peptides and the wide concentration dynamic range. While it has been demonstrated that increasing the number of dimensions of separation prior to MS analysis increases the number of peptides that may be identified, a balance between the time invested and the overall results obtained must be carefully considered. This manuscript provides a review of two- and three-dimensional peptide separation strategies combined with MS for the analysis of complex peptide mixtures.

© 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Multidimensional separation; Peptides; Proteomic analysis

Contents

1.	Introduction	36
2.	Separation science	36
3.	Fractionation	36
4.	Multidimensional separations	37
	4.1. Historical perspective	37
	4.2. General comments regarding separation and detection of peptides	38
	4.3. Multidimensional separation strategies	38
5.	Two-dimensional approaches [19–61]	38
	5.1. HPLC-IEX/HPLC-RP	38
	5.2. HPLC/CZE	39
	5.3. Affinity/RP chromatography	40
	5.4. Affinity chromatography/MEKC	41
	5.5. IEF/RP chromatography	41

Abbreviations: 2-D, two-dimensional; 3-D, three-dimensional; IEX, ion exchange chromatography; SCX, strong cation exchange chromatography; RP, reversed-phase; IEF, isoelectric focusing; ICAT, isotope coded affinity tag; MS/MS, tandem mass spectrometry; CID, collision induced dissociation; PAGE, polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; LIF, laser-induced fluorescence; MudPIT, multidimensional protein identification technology; ESI, electrospray ionization; CGE, capillary gel electrophoresis

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 3018467186; fax: +1 3018466037.

E-mail address: issaqh@mail.ncifcrf.gov (H.J. Issaq).

1570-0232/\$ – see front matter @ 2004 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2004.07.042

	5.6.	CIEF/CRP-HPLC	41				
	5.7.	CHPLC/CIEF	42				
	5.8.	Gel filtration/HPLC	42				
	5.9.	CE/CE methods	42				
6.	Three	-dimensional approaches [62–69]	44				
	6.1.	IEF/SCX/RP	45				
	6.2.	RP/SCX/RP	45				
	6.3.	Size exclusion/RP/CZE	45				
	6.4.	SEC/SCX/RP	45				
	6.5.	Affinity/SCX/RP	45				
7.	Concl	uding remarks	46				
Acknowledgement							
Ref	References 46						

1. Introduction

The proteome describes the entire compliment of proteins expressed by a cell at a point in time and includes systematic approaches for the study of the distribution, abundance, modification, identification, interactions, structure, and function of large sets of proteins as well as their involvement in different diseases such as cancer. Proteome analysis rather allows investigation of normal and diseased states. To discover the constituents of a proteome, typically intact proteins are digested into peptides and fractionated using a variety of chromatographic and/or electrophoretic techniques prior to their actual identification using some form of mass spectrometric technique. In the last few years, significant research has been carried out to develop electrophoretic and chromatographic methods to enable the resolution and identification of all peptides (proteins) in a given proteome. This task is not a trivial separation exercise because, for example, a serum proteome may contain up to 20,000 proteins with a concentration dynamic range of 10^{10} which when digested may result in 400,000-600,000 peptides [1,2]. No single chromatographic or electrophoretic procedure to date possesses the peak capacity required to resolve such a complex mixture into its individual components. Many attempts have been made using different electrophoretic and chromatographic modes and a combination of both techniques employing multidimensional procedures, off-line and on-line, to separate such complex protein/peptide mixtures. However, no method presently exists that can be used to separate, detect and quantify all proteins within a given proteome. According to Giddings [3], the peak capacity of a multidimensional separation is the product of the peak capacities of its component one-dimensional methods. Fractionation is a critical aspect of mass spectral identification of peptides. A mass spectrometer can perform mass measurements on several but not many co-eluting peptides. Conventional MS/MS cycle times for most instruments typically enable only a limited number of these peptides to be selected for collision induced dissociation (CID). Therefore, limiting the number of co-eluting peptides helps to increase the percentage of species that may be identified. The aim of this review is to highlight the different liquid phase multidimensional separation strategies that have been employed

for fractionation and separation of complex mixtures of peptides.

2. Separation science

The two main fields of separation science that apply to the analysis of peptides and proteins in the new science of proteomics are chromatography and electrophoresis. Procedures applicable to the separation of peptides are mainly high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and capillary electrophoresis (CE). Different modes of HPLC (reversedphase, ion exchange, size exclusion, affinity, hydrophobic interaction) and CE (capillary zone, isoelectric focusing, isotachophoresis, affinity, micellar) and a combination of both techniques in hyphenated multidimensional formats have been used for the fractionation and/or separation of peptides. In the following sections, two- and three-dimensional (2-D, 3-D) separation strategies that have been used for the separation of peptides will be discussed.

3. Fractionation

Fractionation of a proteome can be conducted at the subcellular, protein or peptide levels. The cell can be divided into its subcellular components, such as mitochondria or nuclei; after which, the protein content of each compartment is analyzed. Also, the proteins within a cell may be divided into fractions based on their solubility properties, i.e., soluble or cytosolic and insoluble or membrane proteins. Fractionation may be carried out at the peptide level by chromatography or electrophoresis as described in the following sections or by the MS with the inherent resolving capabilities of the instrument employing gas phase fractionation [4].

Fractionation of complex peptide mixtures by chromatography or electrophoresis (Table 1) is achieved by manipulating either (a) the mobile phase properties or (b) stationary phase properties (column packing material). The principle of chromatographic fractionation of peptides is based on their interaction with the stationary phase and the mobile phase. The interaction may be adsorption on silica surfaces, parTable 1

List of various methods used to fractionate peptides based on their physical or chemical property

Fractionation method	Physical/chemical property	
Ultracentrifugation	Density	
Size exclusion chromatography	Stoke's radius	
Isoelectric focusing	Isoelectric point	
Hydrophobic interaction chromatography	Hydrophobicity	
Reversed-phase chromatography	Hydrophobicity	
Ion-exchange chromatography	Charge	
Affinity chromatography	Specific biomolecular	
	interaction	
Capillary electrophoresis	Size/charge	

titioning on reversed-phase (RP) materials, size exclusion, affinity or ion exchange (IEX) based on the effective charge of the peptides under specific mobile phase conditions. Separations may in many cases is the result of a combination of modes such as partitioning, adsorption, etc.

Chromatographic fractionation is achieved by using mobile phase gradients whereby proteins or peptides are differentially eluted by changing the organic modifier concentration (RP) or the ionic strength of the buffer as a function of time (hydrophobic interaction chromatography and IEX) or the pH of the mobile phase (IEX). Fractionation of proteins/peptides by isoelectric focusing (IEF) is based on their isoelectric point (pI). The principle of IEF is very simple. Peptides are mixed with the desired pH range carrier ampholyte mixture, or a carrier without ampholyte (exploiting the amphoteric nature of peptides) in a focusing cell. When an electric potential is applied to the focusing cell, peptides/proteins migrate to a position in the established pH gradient to a point in which their net charge is zero. The result is the "focusing" of peptides/proteins into narrow bands at their pI values. Fractions can be collected and further resolved by electrophoresis or chromatography. An advantage of liquid phase IEF is the ability to fractionate a complex mixture of peptides or proteins according to their pIs in a non-gel medium.

Fractionation by chromatography is not new, as a literature search can reveal, being first used in 1960 by Moore and Lee to fractionate water soluble proteins from liver by IEX chromatography on a diethylaminoethyl (DEAE) cellulose column [5]. Since then, many different chromatographic and electrophoretic methods have been used for fractionating proteins and peptides [6,7]. The obvious need for fractionation is to minimize the number of peptides being introduced to the MS at any given point in the analysis, which allows for detection of a greater number of peptides across a greater dynamic concentration range. The advantages of an on-line approach are speed and high throughput, however, such approaches have their limitations. There are stringent requirements, such as the second dimension must be faster than the first, the columns used are restricted in dimensions that limit the amount of sample that can be efficiently loaded, it does not allow re-analysis of fractions, and may require special instrumental modifications. An off-line approach, although slower, and may lead to sample loss, has several advantages. It is simple and easy to perform and allows larger analytical columns (up to 4.6 mm i.d.) packed with different materials to be used, thereby enabling injection of larger amounts of sample. In addition, off-line fractionation most often utilizes commercially available equipment that does not require instrumental modifications, and allows the re-analysis of collected fractions. However, recovery using an on-line approach is higher and sample loss is minimized.

4. Multidimensional separations

4.1. Historical perspective

Although the initial implementation of high-resolution 2-D is attributed to O'Farrell in 1975 [8], the original concept of two-dimensional protein separation by electrophoresis was proposed by Smithies and Poulik in 1956 [9]. They recognized that "a combination of the two electrophoretic processes on a gel at right angles should therefore give a much greater degree of resolution than is possible with either separately." The two modes of resolution are (a) molecular size and (b) free solution mobility on a starch gel. Five years later, Raymond [10] who named his 2-D experiments "orthogonal gel electrophoresis or Orthacryl" realized that the combination of electrophoretic and molecular filtration effects produce new and startling resolutions that could not be obtained by other electrophoretic procedures. Laurell, in 1965 [11] devised a 2-D procedure for the separation of serum proteins whereby electrophoresis on an agarose gel was used in the first dimension, and affinity electrophoresis in the second dimension. Two-dimensional PAGE became the method of choice for biologists after its introduction by O'Farrell [8] for the separation of cellular proteins under denaturing conditions. The principle of 2-D PAGE is resolution of proteins based on their pI in the first dimension and molecular mass in the second dimension. Despite its limitations, 2-D PAGE is still the most widely used multidimensional separation technique for the analysis of complex protein mixtures. One of its key strengths is its ability to allow investigators to compare protein expression levels in cells under different environmental conditions or treatments.

An advantage of chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques is that they allow the freedom to resolve a complex mixture by different routes employing different separation mechanisms based on physical and chemical properties of the solute mixture [12]. A requirement of any successful 2-D procedure is that the two selected dimensions possess different, but compatible, separation mechanisms (orthogonal), especially true in cases when an on-line format is selected. In addition to 2-D PAGE, many multidimensional separation approaches have been published, employing HPLC and/or CE, for the separation of peptide mixtures. The advantages of HPLC and CE multidimensional procedures are that they are automatable, sensitive, reproducible, fast, and quantitative. Unlike 2-D PAGE, separations of proteins/peptides by HPLC

and CE can be coupled with different detection systems, such as ultra-violet (UV), MS or laser-induced fluorescence (LIF). In addition, HPLC and CE allow the use of mobile phase gradient elution for improved resolution. Indeed, the concept of gradient elution is not new, its advantages were realized in 1949 by two different groups [13,14].

4.2. General comments regarding separation and detection of peptides

Multidimensional separation of complex peptide mixtures involves the use of two or more separation procedures that have to be orthogonal and compatible with each other. Multidimensional IEX and RP separations are carried out by linear or step-gradients, each having its advantages and limitations. It has been suggested by Wagner et al. that linear gradients instead of step-gradients result in peak broadening and lower peptide recovery [15]. Unfortunately, no data was presented comparing both approaches. Fractions can be collected from a gradient procedure as they elute from the column by time, drop or by inflexion point using an autosampler. Collection of fractions based on inflexion points eliminates the splitting of broad peaks between two fractions.

Most RP-HPLC separations are carried out using acetonitrile gradients; improvements in selectivity can be accomplished by addition of an ion pairing agent, such as formic or acetic acid. Ion exchange chromatography is conducted using salts such as sodium chloride, potassium chloride, ammonium acetate or ammonium formate at different concentrations in a gradient format. The salt selected, its concentration and the buffer composition used in the first dimension should not deleteriously affect the second dimension of separation in terms of the peak shape (resolution). For example, typically ammonium salts are used to replace mineral salts (KCl and NaCl) when downstream detection is by ESI-MS [16]. Also, if CE is the second separation mode, too much salt from the first dimension will generate excess Joule's heating thereby diminishing the resolution. Finally, in global proteomic studies, the multidimensional system selected should allow for as much proteome coverage as possible, and not only selected fractions (peaks) of the first dimension, as in heart cutting procedures used in HPLC [17] and gas chromatography [18] where only regions (peaks) of interest are subjected to further analysis.

4.3. Multidimensional separation strategies

In most current HPLC and CE multidimensional approaches, the proteins are digested into peptides prior to separation. The advantage of such an approach is that peptides possess greater solubility in a wider range of solvents and are hence easier to separate than proteins. This fact is especially true for membrane proteins that are typically insoluble in aqueous buffers. The disadvantage in working with peptides, however, is the increased number of species that must be resolved. Multidimensional separation methods are nec-

essary to simplify such complex mixtures to allow for the greatest number of species to be successfully identified by subsequent MS analysis. While MS technology has and will continue to rapidly improve, even the best dynamic range measurement capabilities are still six to seven orders of magnitude smaller than the dynamic range of protein concentration of proteins present within a serum sample. The ability to decrease the number of co-eluting peptides introduced to the spectrometer at any one time is directly proportional to the successful and comprehensive characterization of a proteome sample. Table 1 shows the different separation mechanisms that can be used in 1-D, 2-D or 3-D format for the resolution of a simple or complex mixture of peptides. There have been many multidimensional approaches, employing chromatography and electrophoresis for the separation of peptide mixtures. For example, two different HPLC separation mechanisms, or two different CE separation mechanisms, or a combination of HPLC and CE mechanisms can be employed to resolve complex mixtures. Two- and three-dimensional strategies, as will be discussed later, allowed the mass spectral detection of thousands of peptides and resulted in the identification of hundreds of proteins from complex proteome digests, for example, the serum proteome. Here, we will discuss selected examples of these strategies as they apply to the separation of complex peptide mixtures (e.g., protein digests).

5. Two-dimensional approaches [19–61]

5.1. HPLC-IEX/HPLC-RP

The combination of IEX liquid chromatography (mainly strong cation exchange chromatography (SCX)) in the first dimension and RP chromatography in the second dimension, are the dominant procedures for the separation of proteome digests today. Yates and coworkers [19–21] developed an on-line multidimensional protein identification technology (MudPIT) where the SCXLC and RPLC materials are sequencially packed into a single microcapillary column (Fig. 1). An acidified tryptic digest of 80S ribosomes isolated from yeast was loaded onto the MudPIT column. Discrete fractions of peptides can be displaced from the SCX stationary phase directly onto the RP section of the column by salt



Fig. 1. Two-phase SCX/RP-HPLC column (reprinted with permission from [19]).

pulses, followed by RP separation of each subset of peptides. This iterative process was repeated 12 times using increasing salt pulses [19]. An advantage of MudPIT is that the entire system is coupled directly on-line with MS. This group followed up their initial demonstration by applying the MudPIT strategy for the identification of almost 1500 proteins within the yeast proteome [21] and for quantitation of proteins from cultures of Saccharomyces cerevisiea [22]. Similar off-line procedures were reported for the separation of peptides (protein digests) in human plasma filtrate [23], plasma peptides [24], blood ultrafiltrate [25], human urine [26], and yeast proteome [27]. In our laboratory, off-line SCX fractionation followed by microcapillary (µ) RPLC-MS/MS was applied to a global proteomic analysis (i.e., protein digests) of the low molecular weight human serum proteome [28], membrane proteins isolated from mouse natural killer cells [29], plasma membrane proteins [30], lipid raft proteins [31], the E. coli proteome [32], and the mouse cortical neuron proteome [33]. An example of the SCX chromatogram of a serum protein digest is given in Fig. 2A and B is the RPLC chromatogram of fraction 31. While most multidimensional peptide separa-

Fig. 2. Strong cation exchange chromatogram of the separation of a serum protein digest (A) and RPLC chromatogram of fraction 31 resolved by SCX (B).

tions published to date have used SCX as the first dimension, Wagner et al. [15] employed IEX (anion and cation) chromatography as the first dimension and RPLC as the second dimension. Tryptic digested ribosomes were first fractionated using both anion and cation exchange chromatography and subsequently separated by RP-HPLC coupled online with ESI-MS. The authors reported a few interesting observations: (a) every fraction derived from IEX mainly provided peptides that could not be detected in preceding or following fractions; (b) one-dimensional RP chromatography gave better resolution than IEX of the same peptide mixture. This lower resolution is why IEX is normally the first dimension in multidimensional separations since subsequent separation steps should possess higher resolving capability; and (c) an off-line 2-D HPLC system allows the application of salt gradients with the addition of organic modifiers instead of salt step-gradients that cause peak broadening and lower peptide recovery [15].

When SCX is used as the first dimension for fractionation, a dilemma is faced for deciding on how many successive pulses with increasing salt concentration should be used or how many fractions should be collected in an off-line salt gradient fractionation. The answer depends on a cost/benefit analysis; factors such as the complexity of the peptide mixture, sample size, gradient time, available time, MS mode, and the purpose of the proteome analysis must be weighed. It is not unusual to collect as many as 96 SCX fractions or more from a complex protein digest. Another aspect of IEX that the analyst has to decide upon is the buffer type, concentration, and pH. High salt concentrations result in sharp peaks, short elution times, and a large number of co-eluting peptides. On the other hand, low salt concentration results in broad peaks, long elution times, and reduced number of co-eluting peptides [15].

5.2. HPLC/CZE

Jorgenson and coworkers [35–37] have developed many elegant on-line multicolumn approaches with various combinations of size exclusion chromatography, RP chromatography, IEX chromatography and CZE for the separation of peptides and proteins. Moore and Jorgenson used on-line RPLC/CZE [35] separations to resolve complex mixtures of peptides. In these comprehensive procedures, the second dimension separation was designed to be much faster than the first dimension. This order enables the second dimension (CZE) to analyze many fractions eluting from the HPLC column without creating a bottleneck at the final separation stage. For example, the effluent from a 15 min RPLC run is sampled 60 times by the CZE system employing a high speed optical injection system which may be thought of as an "inverse" injection method [35].

Briefly, the system is based on an argon ion laser. The samples are tagged with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). Ninety-five percent of the beam's power from the laser is split into a gating beam, focused nearer the injection end of





Fig. 3. Two-dimensional RPLC/fast-CZE instrumental diagram (reprinted with permission from [35]).

the capillary and a probe beam; and 5% of the laser power is focused nearer the exit end of the capillary. To make an injection, the gating beam is momentarily blocked with a computer-controlled shutter. This allows a small slug of material to pass through where its components are resolved and detected. The interface of the HPLC to the CZE is shown in (Fig. 3). This gating system was developed because mechanical injection methods are too slow for the fast CZE separation.

Issaq et al. [38,39] used a simple off-line RPLC/CZE system for separating a protein digest, whereby fractions eluting from the HPLC column were collected every 30 s, concentrated under vacuum, and analyzed by a single capillary CE instrument [38] and by a 96-array CE instrument [39] with LIF detection. The CE separation mode can be either CZE [38,39] for separation of peptides or capillary gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins [39]. A 2-D plot of the sample concentration is then constructed, the dimensions being the LC and CZE elution times of the respective peptides. Intensity of the spots, i.e., quantification, was represented by different colors. The CZE array allowed the total HPLC/CE experiment to be completed within 1 h. He et al. [40] used a similar 2-D method to map cell extracts. In their study, the cell protein extracts were first separated, based on hydrophobicity using a C-4 RPLC column. Fractions from the RPLC system were collected into 96-well microtiter plates, dried under vacuum, and reconstituted with water. The fractions were then analyzed by multiplexed CZE and detected by UV absorption. Prior to analysis by CZE, the reconstituted fractions were concentrated on-column using large volume sample stacking with polarity switching. Recently, Janini et al. reported a simple interface for on-line CE-MS that was used as a second dimension to study peptide fractions from a SCX column [41]. Figevs et al. [42] has also coupled a solid phase extraction (SPE) device (C-18, 5 µm particles) to CE/ESI-MS-MS system.

5.3. Affinity/RP chromatography

Affinity chromatography is used to interrogate a specific subset of peptides, such as glycopeptides and phosphopeptides, from a proteome or protein digest. Regnier and coworkers [43–46] used affinity chromatography selection of peptides to reduce the complexity of the peptide mixture and showed that the identified peptides can act as analytical surrogates of their protein of origin. Fractions collected from the affinity column were separated by RPLC and identified by MS. They [43,44] used lectin affinity chromatography for the identification of glycoproteins in complex mixtures derived from either human blood serum or a cancer cell line. The process involved the following steps: (a) reduction and alkylation of the proteome sample; (b) proteolysis with trypsin; (c) affinity chromatographic selection of the glycopeptides with immobilized lectin; and (d) transfer of the glycopeptide fraction for analysis by on-line RPLC matrix assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) time-of-flight (TOF)-MS. In another study from the same laboratory copper(II) immobilized affinity chromatography (Cu²⁺-IMAC) in tandem with RPLC was applied to a yeast protein extract. After trypsin digestion, peptides rich in histidyl residues were selected, eluted from the IMAC column and resolved by RPLC. Concanavalin A affinity chromatography was used to extract glycopeptides from whole serum, the resultant mixture of glycopeptides was further analyzed by RP-HPLC/ESI-MS [47].

Recently, Hunt and coworkers [48] reported a multidimensional separation strategy that enables characterization of phosphopeptides from whole cell lysates in a single experiment. The proteins are digested with trypsin followed by esterification of carboxylic groups within the resulting peptides. Immobilized metal-affinity chromatography was used in the first separation dimension to enrich for phosphopeptides, which were subsequently analyzed by nano-flow RPLC-MS. More than 1000 phosphopeptides were identified from the analysis of a whole-cell lysate of *Saccharomyces*.

5.4. Affinity chromatography/MEKC

Micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MEKC) is used for the separation of neutral as well as charged compounds by their partitioning into micelles. Amini et al. [49] investigated the selection and separation of histidine-containing peptides by Cu²⁺-IMAC. Ovalbumin was chosen as a model protein for investigation of the selection and separation of histidine-containing peptides by IMAC off-line coupled with capillary electrophoresis and MALDI TOF-MS. Two of five histidine-containing peptides in addition to some nonhistidine-containing peptides from tryptic digest of ovalbumin were captured by IMAC. To separate and purify the selected peptides, the IMAC sample was analyzed by CZE, however, the sample was not resolved by CZE, therefore, micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MEKC), using 10-75 mM SDS was used. Analysis of IMAC sample by MEKC using low concentrations of SDS (10 mM) was characterized by MALDI TOF-MS. When using SDS at 75 mM, the migration times of the RPLC fractions of the IMAC sample were used to identify the peaks.

5.5. IEF/RP chromatography

Isoelectric focusing is an excellent technique that has been successfully applied for the separation of proteins/peptides according to their pI. Xiao et al. [50] used a liquid phase IEF device in a novel ampholyte-free format for fractionation of a tryptically digested serum sample. The focusing cell, which is divided into 20 chambers by permeable membranes, was first filled with the serum sample, followed by a focusing step. After focusing, the entire peptide mixture is resolved into 20 fractions in the different chambers, which are collected into individual tubes. Following IEF, the individual peptide fractions were analyzed by µRPLC-MS/MS. The authors reported the detection of 957 peptides that corresponded to 477 proteins. In another study from our laboratory, intact proteins were separated by IEF, digested with trypsin, followed by separation using RP chromatography and the peptides identified by ESI-MS/MS as shown in Fig. 4.

5.6. CIEF/CRP-HPLC

An integrated protein/peptide separation approach involving on-line combination of CIEF with μ RPLC was developed to provide a means to significantly concentrate analytes (by a factor of ~240) while having high resolving power [52,53]. The authors reported that CIEF in the first separation dimension offers a greater resolving power than that achieved using SCX chromatography, however, no comparative data was presented to support their claim. A schematic overview for the



Fig. 4. Flow chart of a 2-D IEF/RP-HPLC strategy (reprinted with permission from [51]).

on-line integration of CIEF with CRP-HPLC as a concentrating and multidimensional separation platform is shown in Fig. 5. A 60-cm CIEF capillary (100 μ m i.d./200 μ m o.d.) was coated with hydroxypropyl cellulose for the elimination of electroosmotic flow and protein/peptide adsorption onto



Fig. 5. Schematic of on-line integration of CIEF with CRPLC as a concentrating and multidimensional separation platform. Solid and dashed lines represent the flow paths for the loading of CIEF fractions and the injection of fractions into a CRPLC column, respectively (reprinted with permission from [53]).

the capillary wall. The capillary was initially filled with a solution containing 2% Pharmalyte 3-10 and 2 mg/ml tryptic peptides obtained from the soluble fraction of veast cell lysates. Ammonium hydroxide (0.5%, pH 10.5) and acetic acid (0.1 M, pH 2.5) were employed as the catholyte and the anolyte, respectively. Focusing electric field was 300 V/cm over the entire length of the CIEF capillary. The current decreased continuously as the result of analyte focusing. The focusing was considered to be complete when the current reached $\sim 10\%$ of the original value, usually within 30 min. The focused peptides were sequentially and hydrodynamically loaded into a 0.4 µl injection loop in a six-port microinjection valve. The loaded peptides were then injected into a C₁₈ RP trap column through a six-port valve. Repeated peptide loadings and injections into various trap columns were carried out until the entire CIEF capillary content was sampled into a total of 12 unique fractions. A constant electric field of 300 V/cm was applied across the CIEF capillary for maintaining analyte band focusing in the capillary throughout the loading and injection procedures. Mass spectrometry was used for peptide detection.

5.7. CHPLC/CIEF

In the above section, CIEF was used as the first dimension to focus the peptides and CRPLC was used to resolve the peptides in each fraction. In a recent study [54], a comprehensive 2-D separation system, coupling capillary reverse-phase liquid chromatography to capillary isoelectric focusing is described for protein and peptide mapping. Since all sample fractions in CRPLC effluents could be transferred to the CIEF dimensions, the combination of the two high-efficiency separations resulted in maximal separation capabilities of each dimension. Separation effectiveness of this approach was demonstrated using complex protein/peptide samples, such as yeast cytosol and a BSA tryptic digest. A peak capacity of more than 10,000 had been achieved. A laser-induced fluorescence (LIF) detector, developed for this system, allowed for high-sensitive detection, with a fmol level of peptide detection for the BSA digest. The reason for employing RP-HPLC first, according to the authors, is that the RP material can act as a pretreatment and purification system for CIEF.

5.8. Gel filtration/HPLC

Small peptides, which are present in wine with other nonpeptidic compounds, were first isolated by hollow fiber ultrafiltration by circulating the wine through a hollow fibre cartridge with a molecular mass cut-off of 3000. The wine permeate was then recirculated through eight organic membranes with molecular mass cut-off of 200–300. An 8 ml volume of each was applied to a glass column packed with Sephadex LH20 and eluted with 0.3 M sodium acetate, pH 4 at room temperature. Five-millilitre fractions were collected. Each of the sub-fractions was further resolved by HPLC using



Fig. 6. Schematic of online coupling of CIEF-transient CITP/CZE with ESI-FTICR-MS using a microdialysis junction. Points A–C are either connected to ground or a high voltage power supply (reprinted with permission from Anal Chem. 75 (2003) 4432 [57]).

a porous graphitic carbon (Hypercarb) column using a 0.1% TFA/acetonitrile step-gradient. The authors reported the detection by UV absorption of nearly 60 peaks, which may contain one or several peptides. Fractions were collected and analyzed by capillary electrophoresis to determine their purity. Optimum CE resolution was achieved on a 50 cm long \times 75 μ m i.d. fused silica column, a 25 mM phosphate buffer, pH 2.5 and an applied voltage of 30 kV [55].

5.9. CE/CE methods

Transient isotachophoresis/zone electrophoresis coupled with nano-ESI-MS was used for the selective enrichment and identification of trace peptides in proteome analysis [56]. The speed of CITP/CZE separation and the lack of column equilibration make this a high throughput method. The CITP improves the detection of low abundance peptides by concentrating them into narrow bands. In another study, Lee and coworkers [57] developed a multidimensional



Fig. 7. Two-dimensional separation by capillary electrophoresis. The inlet of capillary 1 and buffer 2 outlet are placed in microcentrifuge tubes, which are filled with appropriate buffers. The outlet of capillary 1 and the inlet of capillary 2 are placed in an interface made from a piece of Lexan. Buffer 2 inlet is connected to a wash bottle held several cm above the waste vials. Flow from buffer 2 inlet is controlled with a low pressure valve (not shown). The outlet of capillary 2 is placed within a sheath-flow cuvette for post-column fluorescence detection. The waste outlet of the cuvette is placed at the same height as the running buffer 1 vial and the running buffer 2 outlet vial to prevent formation of a siphon through the separation capillaries (reprinted with permission from [58]).



Fig. 8. Schematic of a global analysis procedure of serum proteome (reprinted with permission from [63]).

electrokinetic-based separation/concentration platform coupled with electrospray ionization-Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (ESI-FTICR-MS) for achieving the high resolution and ultrasensitive analysis of complex protein/peptide mixtures (Fig. 6). A microdialysis junction is employed as the interface for on-line combination of capillary isoelectric focusing (CIEF) with transient capillary isotachophoresis/zone electrophoresis (CITP/CZE) in an integrated platform. The excellent resolving power afforded by both CIEF and CZE separations, the electrokinetic focusing/stacking effects of CIEF and CITP greatly enhanced the dynamic range and detection sensitivity of MS for protein identification. The constructed multidimensional separation/concentration platform was used for the analysis of Shewanella oneidensis proteome. The electrokinetic-based platform offered the overall peak capacity comparable to those obtained using multidimensional chromatography systems, but with a much shorter run time and no need for column regeneration. A total of 1174 unique proteins were identified using this 2-D approach.

Dovichi and coworkers reported on two-dimensional CE system for automated protein analysis [58]. In the system



Fig. 10. Schematic diagram of sample separation and analysis. Shown is the flow of experimental information starting from cell lysate through data analysis. Two HMEC global protein samples were prepared, either alkylated or nonalkylated, and were subjected to size exclusion chromatography, separate tryptic digestion of each SEC fraction, and strong cation exchange chromatography. The subsequent 114 peptide fractions were then analyzed via reversed-phase liquid chromatography coupled with MS/MS, resulting in spectra that were analyzed using SEQUEST (reprinted with permission from [66]).

(Fig. 7), the labeled proteins are analyzed by submicellar capillary electrophoresis at pH 7.5 to perform a first dimension separation. Once the first components migrate from the capillary, a fraction is transferred to a second dimension capillary, where electrophoresis is performed at pH 11.1 to further separate the proteins. Successive fractions are transferred from the first dimension capillary to the second dimension capillary for further separation to generate, in serial fashion, a two-dimensional electropherogram. The transfer of fractions is computer-controlled. Zeptomoles of labeled proteins were detected [58]. An on-line 2-D CE system consisting of CIEF



Fig. 9. Schematic diagram of 3-D SEC/RPLC/fast-CZE (reprinted with permission from [36]).

and capillary gel electrophoresis (CGE) was introduced. A dialysis interface was developed by mounting a hollow fiber on a methacrylate resin plate to hyphenate the two CE modes [59]. The two dimensions of capillary shared a cathode fixated into a reservoir in the methacrylate plate; thus, with three electrodes and only one high-voltage source, a 2-D CE framework was successfully established. A practical 2-D CIEF-CGE experiment was carried out with a target protein, hemoglobin (Hb). After the Hb variants with different isoelectric points (p*Is*) were focused in separate bands in the first-dimension capillary, they were each chemically mobilized to the second-dimension capillary for further separation in polyacrylamide gel where a single CIEF band was resolved into several peaks.

Two-dimensional CE on a chip studies were recently reported [60,61].

6. Three-dimensional approaches [62-69]

In cases where 2-D approaches do not give satisfactory results, a third orthogonal separation procedure is used which would result in the resolution of a larger number of peptides. For example, comparison of results from our laboratory for the separation of human serum protein digest resulted in 951 peptides detected using 2-D IEF/RP [50] while a 3-D IEF/SCX/RP procedure of the same serum resulted



Fig. 11. Separation chromatograms and LC-MS/MS analysis. (A) Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) separation of nonalkylated HMEC cell lysate. Isocratic elution of the proteins was observed using A_{280} with brackets representing the collected fractions. A total of six fractions were collected. Fraction 1 was discarded due to lack of protein detected. Protein separation of the alkylated sample was similar, but with a total of seven fractions collected. (B) Strong cation exchange (SCX) chromatography of tryptically digested SEC fraction 2. The total number of peptide identifications for each peptide fraction is shown as a bar superimposed over the SCX absorbance. (C) Reversed-phase LC-MS/MS analysis of SCX peptide fraction 16. The base peak chromatogram represents gradient elution of 10%–60% acetonitrile over time. (D) MS scan taken at time point 35.62 min during RP LC-MS/MS analysis. Three peaks are selected for each MS scan for further identification via collision induced dissociation. (E) MS/MS scan of parent ion m/z 572.2. All major peaks have been labeled as either b- or y-ions indicating that the parent ion is the fully tryptic peptide R.FLIVAHDDGR.W, originating from protein FSC1_HUMAN (reprinted with permission from [66]).

in the identification of 2071 peptides, as described below [62].

6.1. IEF/SCX/RP

A comprehensive analysis of the serum proteome requires effective fractionation and instrumental analysis approaches. Chan et al. [63] employed a multidimensional peptide separation strategy combined with tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) for the identification of proteins in human serum. After enzymatically digesting serum with trypsin, the peptides were fractionated using liquid phase isoelectric focusing (IEF) in a novel ampholyte-free format. The 20 IEF fractions were separated by SCX chromatography into seven subfractions each, collected and analyzed by RP-HPLC ESI-MS/MS. It was reported that 2071 peptides were detected which resulted in the identification of 1143 unique proteins. A schematic of the procedure is presented in Fig. 8. This three-dimensional approach resulted in the identification of three times as much proteins as a 2-D IEF/HPLC procedure (1143 proteins versus 477 proteins).

6.2. RP/SCX/RP

McDonald et al. [64] compared three on-line coupled HPLC MS/MS strategies: single RP-HPLC, two-phase Mud-PIT (SCX-RP), and three-phase MudPIT (RP-SCX-RP), for the separation of peptides in a complex protein digest. The three-phase column is a variation of the original two-phase MudPIT column (Fig. 10) with an additional RP material behind the SCX material. This three-phase column can be used in addition to fractionation and separation for "on-line" desalting of the sample. They reported that the three-phase MudPIT column yielded a greater number, 431, of peptide identifications versus 147 and 341 for the 1-D and 2-D Mud-PIT systems, respectively. A similar off-line approach was employed by Atwood et al. [65] to resolve the peptides in the Trypanosoma cruzi proteome digest. After digestion of the proteins, peptides were resolved on a reversed-phase column based on their hydrophobicity. Nine fractions were collected using a gradient of 5-45% acetonitrile; after which, each fraction was separated by SCX into eight sub-fractions. Peptides in each sub-fraction were then resolved by RP chromatography and detected by MS/MS.

6.3. Size exclusion/RP/CZE

Moore and Jorgenson [36] developed a comprehensive three-dimensional peptide separation method based on molecular size, hydrophobicity, and electrophoretic mobility. Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) is used as the first dimension to give a rough separation of the peptides based on their molecular size. The SEC effluent is repetitively sampled on-line into a rapid 2-D RP-HPLC/CZE system with an analysis time of 7 min (Fig. 9). Analysis of the data from this system consisted of a series of 2-D "slices" of the SEC effluent, which when stacked together gave the 3-D separation "volume". The method required the coupling of three columns took 102 h and resulted in 6000 peaks. Such comprehensive approach may be used to compare protein expression levels from two different states, healthy and diseased.

6.4. SEC/SCX/RP

In this approach peptides (proteins) are resolved according to their molecular size, ionic charge and hydrophobicity. Jacobs et al. [66] fractionated intact proteins from human mammary epithelial cells (HMEC) first by SEC. The six protein fractions were separately digested using trypsin, and the resulting tryptic peptides further separated using SCX (Fig. 10), yielding a total of 114 peptide fractions. Each fraction was then analyzed by RPLC coupled with electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry Fig. 11. The combined approach resulted in a total of 5838 unique peptides identified covering 1574 different proteins.

6.5. Affinity/SCX/RP

Affinity chromatography is used to select a group of peptides and by doing so simplify a complex peptide mixture. Such an approach based on the use of isotope coded affinity tags (ICAT) was used not only to simplify the proteome mixture of *S. cerevisiea* [67] and human myeloid leukemia (HL-60) cells [68] but for the accurate quantification of cysteinyl residue containing proteins. In this strategy, cysteinyl residues within proteins are modified with a thiol reactive



Fig. 12. Proteome analysis using a combination of the isotope coded affinity tag (ICAT) strategy and multidimensional chromatography (reprinted with permission from [69]).

reagent that contains a biotin moiety. The proteins are first denatured, reduced, labeled at cystienyl residues with the ICAT reagent, and enzymatically digested. The modified peptides are recovered using immobilized avidin chromatography. Although the main purpose of affinity-isolating only the cysteinyl-containing peptides is to reduce the complexity of the proteome sample, an ICAT labeled proteome digest sample is still quite complex. Therefore, most investigators emploving ICAT reagents use a combination of SCX and RPLC-MS/MS for the identification and quantitation of the modified peptides. In a recent publication [69], whole cell proteins were first denatured, reduced, labeled at cysteine residues with ICAT strategy, and digested by trypsin. SCX was first used to fractionate the ICAT-labeled complex peptide mixture after which each collected fraction was passed over an avidin column to isolate only cysteine containing peptides. The resulting mixture of ICAT-labeled peptides was then resolved by RP chromatography and analyzed by MS/MS (Fig. 12).

7. Concluding remarks

It is clear from the above discussion and review of the scientific literature that separation science, chromatography, and electrophoresis give the analyst a wide array of options that can be used to resolve a complex mixture of peptides employing 2-D and 3-D separation strategies. It is also abundantly clear that no single chromatographic or electrophoretic procedure is capable of resolving the complex mixture of peptides that results from a global digest of a proteome. Combining two or more orthogonal separation procedures dramatically improves the overall resolution and results in a larger number of peptides being identified. In conclusion, multidimensional separation of peptides combined with mass spectrometry is an important aspect of proteomic research.

Acknowledgement

The content of this publication does not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Department of Health and Human Services, nor does mention of trade names, commercial products, or organization imply endorsement by the U.S. Government. This project has been funded in whole or in part with Federal funds from the National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, under Contract No. NO1-CO-12400.

References

- [1] N.L. Anderson, N.G. Anderson, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 1 (2002) 845.
- [2] F. Regnier, A. Amini, A. Chakraborty, M. Geng, J. Ji, L. Riggs, C. Sioma, S. Wang, X. Zhang, LC GC 19 (2001) 200.
- [3] J.C. Giddings, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun. 10 (1987) 319.
- [4] J. Blonder, C. Rodriguez, D.A. Lucas, H.A.Young, H.J. Issaq, T.D. Veenstra, T.P. Conrads, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1698 (2004) 87.

- [5] B.W. Moore, R.H. Lee, J. Biol. Chem. 235 (1960) 1359.
- [6] H.J. Issaq, T.P. Conrads, G.M. Janini, T.D. Veenstra, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 3048.
- [7] K.S. Lilley, A. Razzaq, P. Dupree, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 6 (2002) 46.
- [8] P.H. O'Farrell, J. Biol. Chem. 250 (1975) 4007.
- [9] O. Smithies, M.D. Poulik, Nature 177 (1956) 1033.
- [10] S. Raymond, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 121 (1964) 350.
- [11] C.B. Laurell, Anal. Biochem. 10 (1965) 358.
- [12] H.J. Issaq, Trends Anal. Chem. (TrAC) 9 (1990) 36.
- [13] V. Desreux, Rec. Trav. Chim. 68 (1949) 7890.
- [14] H.K. Mitchel, M. Gordon, F.A. Haskins, J. Biol. Chem. 180 (1949) 1071.
- [15] Y. Wagner, A. Sickmann, H.E. Meyer, G.J. Daum, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 14 (2003) 1003.
- [16] H.J. Issaq, S.D. Fox, M. Mahadevan, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Related Technol. 26 (2003) 2255.
- [17] F. Erni, R.W. Frei, J. Chromatogr. 149 (1978) 561.
- [18] H.J. Issaq, S.D. Fox, G.M. Muschik, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 27 (1989) 172.
- [19] A.J. Link, J. Eng, D.M. Schieltz, E. Carmack, G. Mize, D.R. Morris, B.M. Garvik, J.R. Yates III, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 676.
- [20] J.L. Harry, M.R. Wilkins, B.R. Herbert, N.H. Packer, A.A. Gooley, K.L. Williams, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1071.
- [21] M.P. Washburn, D. Walters, J.R. Yates III, Nat. Biotechnol. 19 (2001) 242.
- [22] M.P. Washburn, R. Ulaszek, C. Deciu, D.M. Schieltz, J.R. Yates III, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 1650.
- [23] M. Raida, P. Schulz-Knape, G. Heine, W-G. Forssmann, J. Am. Soc. Mass. Spectrom. 10 (1999) 45.
- [24] R. Richter, P. Schulz-Knape, M. Schrader, L. Standker, M. Jurgens, H. Tammen, W-G. Forssmann, J. Chromatogr. B 726 (1999) 25.
- [25] M. Schrader, M. Jurgens, R. Hess, P. Schulz-Knape, M. Raida, W.-G. Forssmann, J. Chromatogr. A 766 (1997) 139.
- [26] G. Heine, M. Raida, W-G. Forssmann, J. Chromatogr. A 776 (1997) 117.
- [27] J. Peng, D. Schartz, J.E. Elias, C.C. Thoreen, D. Cheng, G. Marsischky, J. Roelfs, D. Finley, S.P. Gygi, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 921.
- [28] R.S. Tirumalai, K.C. Chan, D.A. Prieto, H.J. Issaq, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2 (2003) 1096.
- [29] J. Blonder, A. Terunuma, T.P. Conrads, K.C. Chan, C. Yee, D.A. Lucas, C.F. Schafer, L.-R. Yu, H.J. Issaq, T.D. Veenstra, J. Invest. Dermatol., in press.
- [30] J. Blonder, T.P. Conrads, A. Terunuma, K.C. Chan, C. Yee, D.A. Lucas, L.-R. Yu, H.J. Issaq, C.F. Schaefer, K.H. Buetow, J.C. Vogel, T.D. Veenstra, Proteomics 4 (2004) 31.
- [31] J. Blonder, B.G. Stiles, M.L. Hale, T.P. Conrads, D.A. Lucas, H.J. Issaq, T.D. Veenstra, Electrophoresis 25 (2004) 1307.
- [32] M. Zhou, K. Chan, D.A. Lucas, H.J. Issaq, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra (unpublished results).
- [33] L.-R. Yu, T.P. Conrads, T. Uo, H.J. Issaq, R.S. Morrison, T.D. Veenstra, J. Proteome Res. 3 (2004) 469.
- [34] K. Wagner, T. Miliotis, G. Marko-Varga, R. Bischoff, K.K. Unger, Anal. Chem. 74 (2002) 809.
- [35] A.V. Moore, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 3448.
- [36] A.V. Moore, J.W. Jorgenson, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 3456.
- [37] K.C. Lewis, G.J. Opiteck, J.W. Jorgenson, D.M. Sheeley, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 8 (1997) 495.
- [38] H.J. Issaq, K.C. Chan, G.M. Janini, G.M. Muschik, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 1533.
- [39] H.J. Issaq, K.C. Chan, S.L. Cheng, L. Qingbo, Electrophoresis 22 (2001) 1133.
- [40] Y. He, E.S. Yeung, K.C. Chan, H.J. Issaq, J. Chromatogr. A 979 (2002) 81.
- [41] G.M. Janini, M. Zhou, L-R. Yu, J. Blonder, M. Gignac, T.P. Conrads, H.J. Issaq, T.D. Veenstra, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 5984.

- [42] D. Figeys, A. Ducret, R. Aebersold, J. Chromatogr. A 763 (1997) 295.
- [43] M. Geng, X. Zhang, M. Bina, F. Regnier, J. Chromatogr. B 752 (2001) 293.
- [44] M. Geng, J. Ji, F. Regnier, J. Chromatogr. A 870 (2000) 295.
- [45] L. Xiong, F.E. Regnier, J. Chromatogr. B 782 (2002) 405.
- [46] D. Ren, N.A. Penner, B.E. Slentz, F.E. Regnier, J. Proteome Res. 3 (2004) 37.
- [47] A. Apffel, J. Chakel, W. Hancock, C. Souders, T. Timkulu, E. Pungor, J. Chromatogr. A 732 (1996) 27.
- [48] S.B. Ficarro, M.L. McCleland, P.T. Stukenberg, D.J. Burke, M.M. Ross, J. Shabanowitz, D.F. Hunt, F.M. White, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 301.
- [49] A. Amini, A. Chakraborty, F.E. Regnier, J. Chromatogr. B 772 (2002) 35.
- [50] Z. Xiao, T.P. Conrads, D.A. Lucas, G.M. Janini, C.F. Schafer, K.H. Buetow, H.J. Issaq, T.D. Veenstra, Electrophoresis 25 (2004) 128.
- [51] G.M. Janini, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, H.J. Issaq, J. Chromatogr. B 787 (2003) 43.
- [52] J. Chen, C.S. Lee, Y. Shen, R.D. Smith, E.H. Baehrecke, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 3143.
- [53] J. Chen, B.M. Balgley, D.L. DeVoe, C.S. Lee, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 3145.
- [54] Y. Mao, X. Zhang, Electrophoresis 24 (2003) 3289.
- [55] C. Desportes, M. Charpentier, B. Duteurtre, A. Maujean, F. Duchiron, J. Chromatogr. A 893 (2000) 281.
- [56] Y. An, J.W. Cooper, B.M. Balgley, J. Gao, C.S. Lee (private communication).

- [57] D. Mohan, L. Pasa-Tolic, C.d. Masselon, N. Tolic, B. Bogdanov, K.H. Nixson, R.D. Smith, C.S. Lee, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 4432.
- [58] D.A. Michels, S. Hu, R.M. Schoenherr, M.J. Eggertson, N.J. Dovichi, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 1 (2002) 69.
- [59] C. Yang, H. Liu, Q. Yang, L. Zhang, W. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 215.
- [60] A.E. Herr, J.I. Molho, K.A. Drouvalakis, J.C. Mikkelson, T.W. Kenny, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 1180.
- [61] N. Gottschlich, S.C. Jacobson, C.T. Culbertson, J.M. Ramsey, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 2669.
- [62] G.M. Janini, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, H.J. Issaq, J. Chromatogr. B 787 (2003) 43.
- [63] K.C. Chan, D.A. Lucas, M. Zhou, C. Schaffer, Z. Xiao, G.M. Janini, H.J. Issaq, K. Beutow, T.D. Veenstra, T.P. Conrads, Clin. Proteomics 1 (2004) 101.
- [64] H.Y. McDonald, R. Ohi, D.T. Miyamoto, T.J. Mitchison, J.R. Yates III, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 219 (2002) 245.
- [65] J. Atwood, B. Weatherly, T. Minning, J. Baker, C. Cavola, R. Tarleton, R. Orlando, in: Proceedings of the 51st Conference on Mass Spectrometry and Allied Topics, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, 8–12 June 2003.
- [66] J.M. Jacobs, H.M. Mottaz, L.-R. Yu, et al., J. Proteome Res. 3 (2004) 68.
- [67] S.P. Gygi, B. Rist, S.A. Gerber, F. Turecek, M.H. Gelb, R. Aebersold, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 994.
- [68] D.K. Han, J. Eng, H. Zhou, R. Aebersold, Nat. Biotechnol. 19 (2001) 946.
- [69] S.P. Gygi, B. Rist, T.J. Griffin, J. Eng, R. Aebersold, J. Proteome Res. 1 (2002) 47.